ORIGINAL

In the Supreme Court of Florida

CASE NO. SC00-490

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX MAR 2 0 2000

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

JOHN CASTILLO, a minor by and through his mother, next friend and natural guardian, DONNA CASTILLO, DONNA CASTILLO and JUAN CASTILLO, individually,

Petitioners,

v.

E.I. DU PONT DE NEMOURS and COMPANY, INC., and PINE ISLAND FARMS, INC.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

Respectfully submitted,

FERRARO & ASSOCIATES
200 S. Biscayne Boulevard, Suite 3800
Miami, Florida 33131
-andRUSSO PARRISH APPELLATE FIRM
6101 Southwest 76th Street
Miami, Florida 33143
Telephone (305) 666-4660

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In November, 1989, while walking past a field owned by Pine Island Farms, Inc., Donna Castillo was drenched with Benlate, a fungicide manufactured by Du Pont which Pine Island was spraying in the field. (A.2). Her son John Castillo was subsequently born with microphthalmia, a rare birth defect involving severely underdeveloped eyes. (A.2). Donna and Juan Castillo, as the parents of their minor child, John Castillo, filed suit against Du Pont and Pine Island in 1993, alleging that Mrs. Castillo had been exposed to Benlate at the time that her son's eyes were forming in utero. (A.2).

Du Pont asserted that its fungicide Benlate was not the cause of John Castillo's birth defect. Thus, prior to trial, at Du Pont's request, the trial court conducted a Frye hearing. (A.3). The trial court determined that the Castillo's experts' opinion testimony was based upon—scientific principles that were sufficiently established to have gained general acceptance in the field of teratology. (A.13).

The jury returned a verdict of \$4 million dollars, allocating 99.5 percent of the liability against Du Pont and .5 percent

¹ Frye v. U.S., 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923).

 $^{^{2}}$ Teratology is "the specialized study of the causation of birth defects." (A.16).

 $^{^3}$ Although the District Court of Appeal determined that the trial court had not made such a determination, we believe that the trial court's comments quoted at (A.13) establish that the trial court **did** make such a determination.

liability against Pine Island. (A.4).

Du Pont and Pine Island appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal, which reversed and remanded for entry of judgment in their favor. The reversal was based upon the determination made by that court that the expert testimony presented on behalf of the Castillos did not pass muster under Frye ostensibly because there was insufficient proof of the teratology of Benlate in humans as opposed to animals even though, as the court was forced to concede, it was ethically impossible to perform experiments on humans to test whether Benlate could be absorbed into Mrs. Castillo's bloodstream. (A.17).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court's decision makes it impossible for a plaintiff to sue the manufacturer of a toxic substance which has caused a human birth defect. The District Court's decision does so based upon the following flawed analysis: (a) Epidemiological studies on the effect of toxic chemicals on humans are unavailable because it would be unethical to conduct experiments on humans with the use of toxic chemicals; (b) Thus, a plaintiff who wishes to assert a causal relationship between a toxic substance and a human birth defect must rely upon animal in vivo and in vitro studies; (c) however, experts may not extrapolate, i.e., apply, the results of those animal studies to human birth defects because no expert can testify, based upon the animal studies, that the toxic substance in question actually caused a particular human birth

defect.

Du Pont challenged the methodology utilized by the Castillos' However, the Castillos' experts utilized the same methodology which had been utilized by Du Pont's experts when they sought to have Benlate approved by the Environmental Protection Agency. Furthermore, the District court of Appeal's opinion acknowledges that the Castillos' experts performed the only available scientific tests. The District Court simply disagreed with the conclusion reached by the Castillos' experts, and also scrutinized that opinion under an improper burden of proof. Castillos' experts were not required to establish that Benlate actually caused John Castillos' birth defect; they were only required to establish that it did so more likely than not. Thus, the District Court's decision conflicts with Gooding v. University Hospital Building, Inc., 445 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 1984) and Mills v. State, 476 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1031 (1986). In addition, the District Court's decision expressly and directly conflicts with Berry v. CSX Transportation, Inc.,709 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), rev. denied, 718 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1998) which holds that the resolution of legitimate but competing scientific views is a matter appropriately entrusted to the triers of fact.

ARGUMENT

THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DIRECTLY AND EXPRESSLY CONFLICTS WITH BERRY V. CSX TRANSPORTATION, INC., 709 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998) WHICH HOLDS THAT "THE WEIGHT TO BE GIVEN TO STATED SCIENTIFIC THEORIES, AND THE RESOLUTION OF LEGITIMATE BUT COMPETING SCIENTIFIC VIEWS, ARE MATTERS APPROPRIATELY ENTRUSTED TO THE TRIER OF FACT," AND WITH GOODING V. UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL BUILDING, INC., 445 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 1989) and MILLS V. STATE, 476 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1985)

The purpose of a Frye hearing is to determine "whether the expert's testimony is based on a scientific principle or discovery that is 'sufficiently established to have gained general acceptance in the particular field in which it belongs.'" Ramirez v. State, 651 So.2d 1164, 1167 (Fla. 1995), (quoting Frye v. U.S., 293 F. 1013, 1014) (D.C. Cir. 1923). The inquiry should focus upon (1) the general acceptance of the underlying scientific principle and (2) the testing procedures used to apply that principle to the facts of the case at hand. Id.

As set forth by the District Court in the instant case, the general causation question at issue here was "whether Benlate has the capacity to cause the birth defect microphthalmia in humans."

(A. 16). With respect to the specific causation inquiry, the court mistakenly believed the question to be whether Benlate actually caused John Castillo's microphthalmia. (A.16). (Emphasis added).

The General Causation Inquiry

The District Court of Appeal acknowledged that there are three types of evidence available to scientists in order to establish causation in a case such as this: (1) epidemiology (studies to

observe the effect of exposure of a single factor upon the incidents of disease in *human* populations); (2) in vivo testing (animal toxicology); and (3) in vitro testing (analysis of the effects of suspected substances on isolated cell systems). (A. 16-17).

As the District Court of Appeal readily acknowledged, epidemiological evidence is generally unavailable for substances such as Benlate that are toxic to humans because it would be unethical to test toxic substances on humans. (A. 17). Thus, there were no available epidemiological studies for the experts who testified on behalf of either party in this case.

Accordingly, researchers must rely upon animal studies to determine the toxicity of chemical substances on humans. Here, the Castillos' experts, Drs. Howard and Van Velzen, had conducted both in vivo testing and in vitro testing of Benlate on white rats and mice, which are the predominant species used in animal toxicity studies. (A.22). Du Pont itself had conducted virtually identical studies on animals. (A.27). The District Court even acknowledged that animal studies have some advantages over epidemiological studies because researchers can control the environment, reduce the likelihood of biases affecting the results, and administer large doses of an agent over a short period of time. (A.18).

Nevertheless, the District Court determined that the trial court had erred by admitting testimony from plaintiffs' experts, because of "uncertainties associated with extrapolation both from

animals to humans and from high to low doses." (A.18). (Emphasis added).

After first acknowledging the unavailability of epidemiological studies due to the toxicity of Benlate, the District Court noted that the Castillos' experts had utilized rat gavage tests to support their opinions. The District Court did not question the methodology utilized by Castillos' experts to conduct those tests; rather, the District Court of Appeal disagreed with the conclusion reached by Dr. Howard and Dr. Van Velzen.

Indeed, the District Court noted that Du Pont itself had performed rat gavage studies "in order to secure federal certification for Benlate..." (A.27).

With respect to the Du Pont rat gavage studies, the District Court noted:

[C]ontrary to the negative conclusions drawn by Howard and Van Velzen from these *in vivo* studies, the Environmental Protection Agency ... determined that it did not present a danger to pregnant women either through inhalation or dermal exposure.

(A. 27-28).

This observation begs the question: If the conclusions drawn by Drs. Howard and Van Velzen on behalf of the Castillos on the basis of (among other things) Du Pont's own rat gavage studies do not provide a sufficient underlying scientific basis for making a determination that Benlate is harmful to humans, then how could the Environmental Protection Agency, relying upon the same tests, have arrived at a contrary conclusion?

These contrasting conclusions, based upon the same scientifically acceptable tests, present a classic difference of opinion which, according to Mills v. State, supra, and Berry v. CSX Transportation, Inc.,709 So.2d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA 1998), rev. denied, 718 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1998) should be resolved by the trier of fact.

As the Berry court observed, "Frye allows opposite opinion testimony from experts relying upon the same generally accepted scientific principles and methodologies." Berry, 709 So.2d at 567.

Accord Brim v. State, 695 So.2d 268, 269 (Fla. 1997).

The Berry court concluded that:

Under Frye and its Florida progeny, when the expert's opinion is well founded and based upon generally accepted scientific principles and methodology, it is not necessary that the expert's opinion be generally accepted as well.

709 So.2d at 567. The court went on to observe that:

Plaintiffs and the defendant's experts relied on essentially the same diagnostic methodologies but drew opposite conclusions from the available information.

Id., quoting Christophersen v. Allied Signal Corp., 939 F.2d 1106,
1111 (5th Cir. 1991), cert. denied, 503 U.S. 912 (1992).

Here, both the Castillos' experts and Du Pont's experts have relied upon the very same scientifically accepted tests to arrive at different conclusions. Yet, in express and direct conflict with Berry, the District Court of Appeal here ruled that the Frye standard was not met.

The Specific Causation Inquiry

The District Court never expressly confirmed whether it based its ruling upon the general causation question or the specific causation question. However, the opinion itself establishes that the general causation question was satisfied by the testimony of Drs. Howard and Van Velzen. Furthermore, the District Court incorrectly framed the specific causation question by requiring a showing of actual as opposed to probable causation. (A.16).

The specific causation inquiry is not whether Benlate actually caused John Castillo's microphthalmia; it is whether Benlate more likely than not caused John Castillo's microphthalmia. See e.g., Mills v. State, 476 So.2d 172 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1031 (1986) (scientific evidence of a neutron activation analysis was properly admitted into evidence even if the test did not conclusively establish whether the subject had fired a gun; the test was relevant because it showed a probability that the subject did or did not fire a gun, and its probative value was for the jury to determine, utilizing a Frye analysis); see generally Gooding v. University Hospital Building, Inc., 445 So.2d 1015 (Fla. 1984) (causation standard is "more likely than not").

In so doing, the District Court of Appeal made the same legal mistake as the trial court which was reversed in *Berry v. CSX Transportation*, *Inc.*, 709 So.2d 552 (Fla 1st DCA 1998), rev. denied, 718 So.2d 169 (Fla. 1998). The District Court's opinion in this case is therefore in express and direct conflict with the

First District's opinion in *Berry*. Unlike the experts here, the experts in *Berry* did have available epidemiological studies. The *Berry* court's discussion of those epidemiological studies applies equally here:

As discussed above, epidemiological studies are designed to assess the existence and strength or absence of an association between an agent and a disease. ...epidemiological studies do not fix the cause - they merely demonstrate the probabilities of cause....From epidemiological studies demonstrating an association, an epidemiologist may or may not infer that a causal relationship exists. However, the epidemiological studies themselves are not designed to demonstrate whether a particular agent did cause the disease, and the trial erred in concluding that the studies unreliable because they failed to establish causal relationship.

Berry, 709 So.2d at 567-68.

The District Court of Appeal here did precisely what the Court in Berry acknowledged to be improper: it required the plaintiffs to establish actual causation. In so doing, the Third District Court of Appeal has erected Frye as an insurmountable barrier to any plaintiff who attempts to show that a given toxic chemical is a human teratogen. Thus, the District Court of Appeal's opinion not only expressly and directly conflicts with Berry and this Court's opinion in Mills v. State, it represents a dangerous road block to Florida citizens' access to the courts.

CONCLUSION

The Petitioners respectfully request that this Court exercise jurisdiction over this matter and quash the District Court of

Appeal's opinion due to express and direct conflict with the indicated cases.