## ORIGINAL

# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED DEBBIE CAUSSEAUX APR 1 4 2000

CASE No. SC00-490

| CLERK, | SUPREME | COURT |
|--------|---------|-------|
| BY     | _Du_    |       |

JOHN CASTILLO, a minor by and through his mother, next friend and natural guardian, Donna Castillo, DONNA CASTILLO and JUAN CASTILLO, individually,

Petitioners,

v.

# E.I. DuPONT DE NEMOURS & COMPANY, INC. and PINE ISLAND FARMS, INC.,

Respondents.

#### RESPONDENT DUPONT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

#### INTRODUCTION

No new ground was broken in this case by the Third District Court of Appeal ("District Court"). Instead, this was a routine case to resolve under *Frye* and its Florida progeny because the relevant scientific experts here *admitted* that the methodology on which they relied was *not generally accepted in the scientific community*. *See* App. A-27.<sup>1</sup> Not surprisingly, this uncontroversial application of *Frye* created no "direct" (or even indirect) conflicts with the decisions of other district courts or with this Court, and certainly no "express" conflicts. Accordingly, this Court lacks discretionary "conflict review" jurisdiction over this petition under Article V, § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv).

Furthermore, even if jurisdiction existed in this case, the Court should decline to exercise it against Respondent, E.I. DuPont de Nemours & Co. Inc. ("DuPont"), because the Petitioners have not sought review on a separate dispositive issue that secures judgment in DuPont's favor regardless of how this Court might choose to resolve the *Frye* issues presented by Petitioners.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner Donna Castillo claims to have been drenched,<sup>2</sup> while pregnant, by a misty spray from an agricultural tractor as she was standing across the street from a field owned by Pine Island Farms, Inc. ("Pine Island"). Mrs. Castillo's son, John, was later born with a rare birth defect known as microphthalmia, leaving him blind

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the District Court's opinion are in this same form throughout this brief, as that opinion is attached as the appendix to this brief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The District Court took notice that despite the drenching claim, "[a] few weeks before trial, plaintiffs' exposure theory changed from exposure through the lungs (inhalation exposure) to exposure through the skin (dermal exposure)." App. A-3.

because his eyes failed to develop properly during gestation. The Castillo family ("Petitioners") sued DuPont and Pine Island in tort on negligence and strict-liability theories, asserting that Mrs. Castillo's exposure to that spray caused her son's birth defect because the spray allegedly contained DuPont's fungicide, Benlate. *See* App. A-2. Petitioners' experts contended that Benlate would cause human microphthalmia at minuscule blood concentrations (20 parts per billion) in pregnant women, based on their extrapolations from experiments performed on rats and on human and rat cells in petri dishes. *See id.* at A-2 through A-3.

At the close of a jury trial, DuPont and Pine Island moved for a directed verdict on two relevant grounds: (1) that there was no competent and sufficient evidence that Mrs. Castillo had been sprayed with Benlate; and (2) that the methodology relied upon by Petitioners' scientific expert witnesses to establish that Benlate could have caused microphthalmia in a human fetus at the levels that might have been attained in Mrs. Castillo's bloodstream (a) was not generally accepted in the scientific community and thus (b) did not satisfy the requirements of *Frye v. United States*, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923). *See* App. A-2 through A-4, A-6 through A-10. The trial court rejected both of those motions and entered judgment in favor of the Petitioners for \$4 million total, allocating 99.5% of this award against DuPont and 0.5% against Pine Island. *See id.* at A-4.

On appeal by both DuPont and Pine Island, the Third District Court of Appeal reversed this judgment. It ruled that the only evidence against DuPont sufficient to support the conclusion that the tractor spray had contained Benlate was inadmissible hearsay, though it did hold that such hearsay could be considered against Pine Island

because the relevant evidence was a party admission. Accordingly, on the first issue – whether there was evidence that Donna Castillo was even sprayed with Benlate – DuPont was entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *See id.* at A-5 through A-10.

The District Court went on to consider the *Frye* issue, which DuPont had briefed extensively below, because resolving this issue was necessary in order to assess Pine Island's potential liability. *See id.* at A-10 & n.6. The District Court held that Petitioners' testing did not comport with *Frye* because Petitioners' experts had "conceded at the *Frye* hearing [held before trial] that the direct extrapolation method they used in their study was new and that they were unaware of any scientific study that has ever purported to determine a human teratogenic exposure level in this manner." *Id.* at A-27 (emphasis added).

Indeed, the trial court had so botched the *Frye* inquiry that, instead of trying to determine whether the testimony of Petitioners' experts was generally accepted in the scientific community, the trial court judge had declared that such testimony was admissible merely because "I believe that science is reliable," and because she was personally willing to make the self-described "quantum leap" to human birth-defect causation from the testing of Petitioners' experts. *See id.* at A-13. The District Court ruled these statements indications of *per se* reversible error because: "The lower court's last statement quoted above strongly suggests that rather than making the required finding of general acceptance in the relevant scientific community of the methodologies employed by plaintiff's scientists, the trial judge reached her own conclusions on the *merits* of their conclusions." *Id.* at A-14 (emphasis in original).

Because of these errors, the District Court reversed the judgment on Frye

grounds with respect to both DuPont and Pine Island and remanded for the entry of judgment in their favor. *See id.* at A-29. After the District Court rejected Petitioners' request for reconsideration, this petition for review ensued.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The petition should be denied for three reasons. *First*, this Court lacks jurisdiction over the petition because, contrary to Petitioners' suggestions, the District Court did not render any *Frye* rulings that "expressly and directly" conflict with *Berry v. CSX Transp., Inc.*, 709 So. 2d 552 (Fla. 1st DCA), *review denied*, 718 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 1998). *Berry*'s holding – that conflicts in expert testimony are for the trier of fact – is simply irrelevant by its own terms to a case such as this where the plaintiffs' experts *admit* that their scientific methodology was not generally accepted.

Second, this Court also lacks jurisdiction over the Petitioners' claim that the District Court here heightened the burden of proof applied to scientific evidence above a preponderance standard, which Petitioners argue is contrary to Mills v. State, 476 So. 2d 172 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 475 U.S. 1031 (1986), and Gooding v. University Hosp. Bldg., Inc., 445 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 1984). The District Court did nothing of the kind. In fact, the District Court explicitly stated on a number of occasions that it was applying the preponderance standard. See, e.g., App. A-11.

Third, there is no basis for granting this petition with respect to DuPont because the Petitioners seek review only of the *Frye*-related issues decided by the District Court. Even were there a basis for resolving the *Frye* issues in their favor, Petitioners offer no reason to overturn the judgment of the District Court that there was no sufficient and admissible evidence against DuPont that Mrs. Castillo was even

sprayed with Benlate.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. The District Court's Decision Does Not "Expressly and Directly Conflict" with *Berry*.

Berry holds that so long as contending experts use generally accepted scientific methodologies, the fact that their conclusions differ goes to the weight of the evidence and thus is a matter for the factfinder alone. See Berry, 709 So. 2d at 567 ("we hold that, under Frye and its Florida progeny, when the expert's opinion is well-founded and based upon generally accepted scientific principles and methodology, it is not necessary that the expert's opinion be generally accepted as well.").

Petitioners assert that the District Court's decision here "expressly and directly" conflicts with *Berry*. *See* Pet. at 3-7. No such conflict is present. The District Court cited *Berry* approvingly at many junctures in its opinion. *See* App. A-15, A-16 n.9, A-22 n.16, A-23. More importantly, the District Court's ruling here does not conflict with *Berry*. Simply put, it is a precondition to admissibility that scientific opinions be based on methodologies that are generally accepted in the scientific community. In this case, the Petitioners' experts themselves admitted that their methodologies were new and therefore not generally accepted. *See id.* at A-27. Hence, the *Berry* rule is inapplicable to this case by its own terms.

The Petitioners' policy arguments for review are not only improper in a jurisdictional brief, but lack merit. *First*, Petitioners argue that "the District Court's decision makes it impossible for a plaintiff to sue the manufacturer of a toxic substance which has caused a human birth defect." Pet. 2. This claim is based on the

flawed starting premise that the District Court required studies on humans (such as epidemiological studies), and not *in vivo* (animal) and *in vitro* (petri-dish) studies, to establish toxic-tort causation. The District Court clearly did not so hold. *See* App. A-27 ("We *do not* conclude that epidemiological studies are a mandatory prerequisite to establish a toxic substance's teratogenicity [i.e., the tendency to cause birth defects] in human beings.") (emphasis added).

Additionally, Petitioners argument is based on the further erroneous premise that epidemiologic studies would never be available to plaintiffs in a toxic-tort case because it is unethical to experiment with harmful substances on humans. *See* Pet. 2. That contention is not only generally wrong, but wrong in this very case.

Petitioners attempt to confuse prospective clinical studies, which involve direct human testing, with retrospective epidemiological studies, which study, after the fact, populations exposed to possibly harmful substances such as pesticides (e.g., farmers) to determine the incidence of a specific effect. Contrary to Petitioners' suggestion, such epidemiological studies are frequently available for substances that would never be tested by means of a prospective clinical trial. *See* App. A-20 through A-23 (discussing relevant cases); *see also Elkins v. Richardson-Merrell, Inc.*, 8 F.3d 1068, 1070 (6th Cir. 1993) (product-liability case involving birth defects where non-clinical epidemiological studies were considered), *cert. denied*, 510 U.S. 1193 (1994); *Lynch v. Merrell-National Labs.*, 830 F.2d 1190, 1193-94 (1st Cir. 1987) (same); *National Bank of Commerce (of El Dorado, Ark.) v. Dow Chem. Co.*, 965 F. Supp. 1490, 1519 (E.D. Ark. 1996) (same), *aff'd*, 133 F.3d 1132 (8th Cir. 1998); *Berry*, 709 So. 2d at 557-58 (a case Petitioners otherwise trumpet, noting availability of epidemiological

studies in the toxic-tort context).

Consistent with these general observations, *three* (human) epidemiological studies regarding Benlate were submitted to the trial and appellate courts here.<sup>3</sup> All three studies found no data to support a conclusion that Benlate caused microphthalmia. Petitioners' assertion that "there were no available epidemiological studies for the experts who testified on behalf of *either* party in this case," Pet. 5 (emphasis in original), is thus completely contradicted both by the record and by the District Court's opinion. *See* App. A-3 n.1.

Second, Petitioners argue that the District Court's conclusion that the testimony of their experts should have been excluded makes no sense because DuPont relied on the same methodology used by these experts when it obtained permission from the United States Environmental Protection Agency ("EPA") to register Benlate as a fungicide. See Pet. 3. That argument is simply wrong. DuPont submitted in vitro studies to EPA, but the methodology employed by those studies never extrapolated to a level of exposure above which human mothers were predicted to deliver children with microphthalmia. The District Court made it clear that the Petitioners' expert testimony was novel because "no scientific, governmental, or academic publication

The third study is expressly referenced in the District Court's opinion, perhaps because it was submitted for consideration while the case was on appeal. See App. A-3 n.1 (noting release of a new British epidemiologic study supporting DuPont's position); cf. Hadden v. State, 690 So. 2d 573, 579 (1997) (Frye issues should be assessed on the basis of information available at the time of appeal and not the time of trial). This Court should not assume at the jurisdictional stage that the record in this case does not contain the other two epidemiological studies (from Italy and Norway), and in fact, DuPont could readily demonstrate their presence in the record if called upon to do so.

had ever before relied on direct extrapolation from in-vitro test results to determine a teratogenic exposure level in a living being." App. A-27.

# II. The District Court's Decision Does Not "Expressly and Directly Conflict" with *Mills* or *Gooding*.

Petitioners' argument that the District Court in this case raised the burden of proof above a preponderance is without merit. The purportedly scientific evidence put forward by Petitioners was tested under *Frye* using a preponderance-of-the-evidence standard, as the District Court made unmistakably clear.<sup>4</sup>

Nowhere did the District Court state that it was requiring the Petitioners to meet a higher standard of proof. Indeed, Petitioners' argument that they were being held to a standard of proof higher than a preponderance of the evidence was rejected by the District Court. *Compare id.* at A-11 (where District Court notes that it is applying a preponderance standard) *with* A-25 (reciting Petitioners' argument that they should prevail if a preponderance standard is applied).

Petitioners' argument to the contrary seizes on the District Court's use of a single word, to the exclusion of all surrounding context and contrary as well to the clear and repeated statements of the court that it was applying the preponderance standard. *See* Pet. 4. According to Petitioners, the District Court rejected the use of the preponderance standard for causation purposes by using the word "actually" in the following passage: "The general causation question at issue addresses whether

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See App. A-11 ("The general acceptance under the *Frye* test must be established by a preponderance of the evidence.") (quoting *Murray v. State*, 692 So. 2d 157, 161 (Fla. 1997)); see also id. at A-28 (quoting approvingly from the application of the preponderance standard in *Merrell Dow Pharms., Inc. v. Havner*, 953 S.W.2d 706, 727-28 (Tex. 1997)).

Benlate has the capacity to cause the birth defect of microphthalmia in humans, and the specific causation inquiry relates to whether Benlate actually caused John Castillo's microphthalmia." App. A-16. One must strain mightily to even conceive how this simple attempt to explain the difference between general and specific causation could result in an impermissible heightening of the burden of proof.

Moreover, this Court has used the word "actually" in the same way the District Court did in this case when explaining a similar analytic difference between the tort concepts of "duty" and "proximate cause":

The duty element of negligence focuses on whether the defendant's conduct foreseeably created a broader "zone of risk" that poses a *general* threat of harm to others. The proximate causation element, on the other hand, is concerned with whether and to what extent the defendant's conduct foreseeably and substantially caused the *specific* injury that *actually* occurred.

McCain v. Florida Power Corp., 593 So. 2d 500, 503 (1992) (emphasis added) (citation omitted). Just as it is patently obvious that this Court in McCain was not, by using the word "actually," announcing a burden of proof in tort cases higher than the preponderance standard, so it is clear that the District Court's use of this same word here was not intended to and did not have such an effect.

# III. This Court Should Not Grant Review as to DuPont Because the Petitioners Have Failed to Challenge a Separate Dispositive Ruling by the District Court in DuPont's Favor.

In their brief, the Petitioners challenge only the District Court's handling of *Frye*-related issues. Nowhere do Petitioners challenge the District Court's separate holding that the trial court was obligated to order a directed verdict in DuPont's favor because the trial court had properly granted DuPont's motion *in limine* to exclude

hearsay testimony from Lynn Chaffin, Pine Island's General Manager. "This ruling was eminently correct and fatal to the plaintiffs' case against DuPont." App. A-9.

Because the Petitioners do not challenge this sound (and routine) evidentiary ruling, it should not be considered by this Court even if the Court were to accept review of the *Frye*-related issues. Exercising jurisdiction against DuPont with regard to the *Frye* issues would therefore be pointless because, whatever this Court might rule on those issues, the District Court's order reversing the judgment entered against DuPont would remain intact.

#### CONCLUSION

This Court should deny the petition for review because it lacks jurisdiction over the *Frye*-related issues identified by the Petitioners. Alternatively, it should deny the petition as to Respondent DuPont because, however the *Frye* issues might be resolved by this Court, DuPont would still be entitled to judgment in its favor.

Arthur J. England, Jr.
Florida Bar No. 022730
Greenberg Traurig, P.A.
1221 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 579-0500